FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 3/29/2022 3:54 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/30/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100777-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ATERE NORMAN,

Respondent.

Appeal from Court of Appeals No. 83330-8-I The Honorable Kathryn Nelson No. 19-1-02302-5

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

THEODORE M. CROPLEY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 27453 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-6708

I. INTRODUCTION

During jury deliberations, Juror 9 became overwhelmed and punched himself in the face and pulled his hair. Although Juror 9 expressed a belief that he could continue to participate as a juror, other jurors expressed their concerns that Juror 9 was not fit to serve as a juror as his self-harm occurred during a significant portion of the deliberations. The trial court ultimately found Juror 9 unfit for jury service due to his long history of selfharm when he's overwhelmed and because "being out of control and punching yourself in the face has to be intimidating on the process of discussing your views openly and freely." The reconstituted jury found Norman guilty of assault in the second degree and not guilty of burglary in the first degree.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals applied a "heightened" evidentiary standard that requires reversal when there is a "reasonable possibility" that the impetus for removal of a deliberating juror is due to disagreement with the juror's view of the sufficiency of the evidence. Applying this standard, the

- 1 -

Court of Appeals reversed Norman's conviction and remanded the matter for a new trial "because the trial court dismissed the juror on grounds not supported by the record, and because there is a reasonable possibility that the dismissal stemmed from that juror's view of the merits of the case."

The Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with this Court's opinion in State v. Elmore, 155 Wn.2d 758, 123 P.3d 72 (2005). In *Elmore*, this Court ruled that it was only in the "rare" case where such a heightened evidentiary standard is appropriate - where a juror is accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law. Here, Juror 9 was not accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law; rather, he was *disrupting* the jury's deliberation process and chilling free and open discussion and debate. As this is not one of the "rare" cases that this Court has found appropriate to apply a "heightened" evidentiary standard, this Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court. RAP

13.4(b)(1). In addition, as the legal implications of a juror who engages in self-harm during the deliberation process is also an issue of substantial public interest, this Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, the State of Washington, Respondent below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in section III of this Petition.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in *State v. Norman*, 2022 WL 593949, which was filed on February 28, 2022, in case number 83330-8-I. The decision reversed Norman's conviction for assault in the second degree as it found that the trial court dismissed a juror on grounds not supported by the record, and because there was a reasonable possibility that the dismissal stemmed from that juror's view of the merits of the case. App. at 8-19.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision to apply a "heightened" evidentiary standard in reviewing the trial court's decision to dismiss a juror whose engagement in self-harm during deliberations was disrupting the jury's deliberation process and chilling open and free discussion and debate conflicts with this Court's opinion that such a "heightened" standard is only appropriate in the "rare" case where a juror is accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law, and when the legal implications of a juror who engages in selfharm during the deliberation process is an issue of substantial public interest?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After the first day of deliberation in Norman's trial for burglary and assault, five of the jurors approached the court clerk and asked what to do if there was a problem with a juror. RP 552-553. Later that evening, other jurors called the court and indicated that there was an "incident" with Juror 9. Juror 2 left a message stating that "Number 9 became overwhelmed and frustrated and started punching himself in the face and said that he has a problem with inflicting self-harm, and she said it was very scary and she didn't want to be sitting next to him or really in the room with him." RP 553. The presiding juror, Juror 8, also contacted the clerk and stated that Juror 9 punched himself in the face twice and made several of the other jurors uncomfortable and also said that Juror 9 stated he has a problem with inflicting self-harm. RP 553-554.

The next day, the prosecutor moved to dismiss Juror 9 from the jury. Norman's defense counsel wanted to hear from jurors so the trial court conducted a hearing. RP 554.

Juror 9, the challenged juror, testified first and stated that when discussions became heated and a number of people raised their voices, he became overwhelmed. He felt attacked and responded with an emotional outburst by punching himself in the face. Juror 9 stated that this has happened in the past during high stress situations. He stated that he still considered himself "of sound mind." RP 555. Juror 9 further stated that he had never been violent with anyone else and that he did not think that the incident would repeat. He told the court that he would handle matters by taking a break to calm down. RP 556. After Juror 9

testified, the prosecutor again moved to dismiss him:

He acknowledged that he was, in fact, punching himself in the face, which obviously is going to cause fear and concern amongst other jurors who are basically locked in a small room with him. And I have great concern about the sanctity of the process of deliberations under these circumstances.

I would point out that, even if the only concern is self-harm rather than harm to other jurors, that is a major concern. This -- this particular juror is -- is clearly responding beyond his ability to control his circumstances, and there's concern for his safety as well.

RP 577-558.

The trial court next heard from Juror 2. Juror 2 testified that he was fine going forward but he did not want "the incident that happened yesterday to limit what people feel comfortable saying so we don't have a repeat of that." RP 559. Juror 2 expressed concern that Juror 9's behavior may cause other jurors not to want to speak their mind "because nobody wants to see him do that again, and I think everybody is a little on edge just a little bit just because they're not quite sure what -- how he's going to react to certain things that are said and if he is potentially going to have another incident like that again." RP 559-560.

The presiding juror, Juror 8, testified next. Juror 8 testified that although he was comfortable moving forward and did not think that other jurors would necessarily be inhibited during deliberations, he was concerned with Juror 9's well-being. Juror 8 stated that Juror 9 was only in control of himself for 80% of the time and that during the remaining 20% he was punching his face and grabbing his hair and that he had interrupted other jurors.¹ RP 564-5656.

¹ The Court of Appeals interpreted the presiding juror's testimony to mean that it was the challenged juror, Juror 9, who was interrupted by the other jurors. See App. at 16 ("The presiding juror explained that Juror 9 was allowing other people to express their opinions but that Juror 9 was oftentimes interrupted.") However, when read in context, it is clear that the presiding juror testified that it was Juror 9 who was doing the interrupting. When asked by the prosecutor about whether Juror 9 is "allowing other people to have their opinions," the presiding juror, Juror 8, stated that "He is allowing, but oftentimes, he's interrupted during those opinions." RP 564. In context, the contraction "he's" is properly interpreted as "he has" and "those opinions" means the opinions of the other jurors.

The prosecutor again moved to dismiss Juror 9. The trial

court granted this motion and removed Juror 9 from the jury:

I'm going to dismiss Juror Number 9. Twenty percent of the day, he was not in control of himself, and he apparently has a long history of self-harm when he's overwhelmed, highly stressed, and not in control of himself. And I don't doubt that he'll make his best efforts, but being out of control and punching yourself in the face has to be intimidating on the process of discussing your views openly and freely. I think the first juror – [Number 2] -- that reported it, she said that she -- you know, felt bad that he was hitting himself in the face and didn't want him to do that, and I think that shows an inhibition at some level.

RP 568.

The trial court dismissed Juror 9 and replaced him with an alternate. Later that day, the jury found Norman guilty of assault in the second degree and not guilty of burglary in the first degree. RP 573-576.

VI. ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS' APPLICATION **"HEIGHTENED"** OF Α **EVIDENTIARY** STANDARD TO THE **TRIAL COURT'S** DIMSISSAL OF A JUROR WHOSE SELF-HARM DURING **DELIBERATIONS DISRUPTED THE JURY'S DELIBERATION PROCESS BY CHILLING OPEN AND FREE DISCUSSION AND DEBATE CONFLICTS** WITH THIS COURT'S OPINON THAT SUCH A "HEIGHTENED" STANDARD IS ONLY **APPROPRIATE** IN THE **"RARE" CASE** JUROR ACCUSED WHERE A IS OF ENGAGING IN NULLIFICATION. REFUSING TO **DELIBERATE**, OR **REFUSING TO FOLLOW THE LAW, AND** PRESENTS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL **PUBLIC INTEREST**

A criminal defendant is entitled to trial by a fair and impartial jury. U.S. CONST. amend. VI, XIV § 1; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 3, 21, 22; *Duncan v. La.*, 391 U.S. 145, 177, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968). The trial court is required to dismiss "any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention or any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service." RCW 2.36.110. The determination of whether or not to dismiss a juror pursuant to this statute is within the discretion of the trial court. *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 768-69. A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or based on untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997).

However, once a jury has begun its deliberation, a heightened evidentiary standard may be applied in the "rare case." *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 778. This standard requires the trial court to first determine whether any allegation is the result of the accused juror's views on the sufficiency of the evidence. *Id.* Where there is "any reasonable possibility" that this is the case, the trial court may not dismiss the juror without committing a due process violation. *Id.*

The *Elmore* court applied the heightened "any reasonable possibility" standard based on a number of considerations: (1) whether the request for juror dismissal focuses on the quality of a juror's thoughts about the case, (2) whether there is a

reasonable possibility that the impetus for the complaint is the juror's views on the merits, (3) whether the dismissed juror was a holdout, and (4) the need to preserve the secrecy of jury deliberations. *State v. Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. 106, 122, 327 P.3d 1290, 1298 (2014). The trial court's application of this standard is then reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 781.

This Court in *Elmore* set forth standards regarding both the extent to which a trial court should investigate allegations that a juror is engaging in nullification and what evidentiary standard the trial court must apply when deciding whether to dismiss a juror for refusing to follow the law. *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 773. As to the scope of such investigation, this Court held:

The inquiry should focus on the conduct of the jurors and the process of deliberations, rather than the content of discussions. The court's inquiry should cease if the trial judge becomes satisfied that the juror in question is participating in deliberations and does not intend to ignore the law or the court's instructions. Finally we recognize that if inquiry occurs, it should reflect an attempt to gain a balanced picture of the situation; it may be necessary to question the complaining juror or jurors, the accused juror, and all or some of the other members of the jury.

Id at 774. As to the evidentiary standard to be applied, this Court

held:

We affirm the Court of Appeals' adoption of the "any reasonable possibility" standard; where a deliberating juror is accused of refusing to follow the law, that juror cannot be dismissed when there is any reasonable possibility that his or her views stem from an evaluation of the sufficiency of the evidence. Yet we also emphasize that this standard is applicable only in the rare case where a juror is accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law. In addition, we adopt the Eleventh Circuit's position that once the proper evidentiary standard is applied, the trial court's evaluation of the facts is reviewable only for abuse of discretion.

Id. at 778 (emphasis added).

Therefore, the "heightened" evidentiary standard applies *only* in situations "where a juror is accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law." *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 778; *see also State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 855, 204 P.3d 217, 222–23 (2009) (declining to extend *Elmore* and "expressly reserve[ing] the 'reasonable

possibility' standard for cases involving accusations of nullification and refusing to deliberate or follow the law").

In the instant case, the challenged juror, Juror 9, was *not* accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law. Rather, the concerns raised by other jurors and brought to the attention of the trial court stemmed from Juror 9 engaging in self-harming conduct, including punching himself and pulling his hair, that was at least potentially chilling to open and free debate amongst the jurors. In other words, Juror 9's actions did not constitute a refusal to deliberate, but rather impacted the whole *process* of deliberation, independent of any particular juror's view of the merits of the case.

The jurors who initially complained about Juror 9's behavior indicated that during deliberations he became overwhelmed and frustrated and started punching himself in the face. Jurors reported that Juror 9 admitted that he had a problem with inflicting self-harm. This behavior was "scary" and made other jurors uncomfortable to be in the same room with him. RP 553-554.

During the hearing related to the jurors' complaints about Juror 9, Juror 9 admitted that he has had problems with harming himself when he becomes stressed and overwhelmed. He stated that he began engaging in this behavior during stressful jury deliberations when he felt attacked. Juror 9 felt that he was still of "sound mind" and that he had developed ways to deal with the ongoing stress of deliberations. RP 555-556.

Juror 2 testified that although he was "fine" to continue with deliberations and that his ability to perform as juror would not be hindered, he was worried that a repeat of Juror 9's outburst could make people feel uncomfortable. RP 559-560. Specifically, this juror worried that Juror 9's behavior may cause jurors to not want to speak their mind as they would fear a repeat of an outburst. RP 559-560.

The presiding juror, Juror 8, testified that although he did not think that other jurors would be "inhibited" and he was comfortable with moving forward, Juror 9 was only in control of himself during 80% of the time with the other 20% taken up by Juror 9 "punching his face and grabbing his hair." RP 564-566.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion under the abuse of discretion standard of review to remove Juror 9 due to his outburst during deliberations as the accusations against Juror 9 did not stem from the quality of his thoughts about the case, his views on the merits, or a refusal to deliberate, nor was he a "holdout" juror. The other jurors who complained about Juror 9's behavior were concerned with his safety and their own discomfort about triggering another outburst. No other juror even mentioned any problem with Juror 9's views on the merits of the case,² only concern over his self-harming actions, and

² The trial court was careful to instruct each testifying juror that they should not talk about the merits of the case. RP 555 ("Please do not tell us anything about the case"); RP 557 ("So I want to caution you not to tell me anything about anything that was said or --anything that was said in the jury room or anything about the case . . ."); RP 562 ("Mr. Presiding Juror, there was no indication that Juror 9 was pressured to change any of his views on the case. Juror 9 was only in control of himself for 80% of the time and would disrupt other jurors with his behavior during the other 20%. RP 564. From the overall comments of the other jurors, the main concern was that Juror 9's behavior may have a chilling effect on the deliberation process due to the fear of continuing outbursts.

Although Juror 9 stated that he became overwhelmed and felt attacked when other jurors expressed disagreements with him (RP 555), there is no evidence from the record that Juror 9 was a

first I'd like to caution you that we don't want to hear anything about your deliberations or anything about your factual discussions of the case.") During his testimony, the presiding juror, Juror 8, sua sponte, stated,

I'm not sure that there will be a resolution. He was pretty adamant about his beliefs, so I don't know that we'll be able to come to an agreement. In fact, I don't think we will.

RP 563. The trial court quickly cut Juror 8 off and told him, "Well, I don't want to hear about that. Sorry." RP 563. There is no evidence in the record that the trial court considered Juror 8's unsolicited comment when it exercised its discretion to dismiss Juror 9.

"holdout" juror or that his outbursts were due to a disagreement on the merits of this case or a refusal to deliberate, rather than an inability to deal with the stress of the deliberation process.

The Court of Appeals attempts to characterize the instant case as one of the "rare" cases that this Court has held to be appropriate for "heightened" review by comparing this case to *Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. 106, and *State v. Johnson*, 125 Wn. App. 443, 105 P.3d 85 (2005). App. at 9-19. However, these Court of Appeals' opinions do not stand for the proposition that this Court's holding in *Elmore* should be extended to the situation present in the instant case.

In *Berniard,* the Court of Appeals found that the "heightened" evidentiary standard was warranted when the trial court heard only from a "juror debriefer" about her contact with the challenged juror, who had expressed extreme distress due to deliberations. *Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. at 113-114. This juror debriefer testified that the juror told her that "she felt like it could get to the point where everybody would be against her." *Id.* at

122. The trial court did not apply the "heightened" evidentiary standard and ultimately dismissed the juror without taking testimony from anyone other than the juror debriefer. *Id.* at 115.

The Court of Appeal's reversed the trial court's ruling because "[t]he remarks attributed to juror 2 by [the juror debriefer] plainly imply that the juror's distress likely stemmed, at least in part, from a difference of opinion with other jurors concerning the merits of the State's case." *Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. at 122. The Court of Appeals held,

that the trial court erred in dismissing juror 2 without further inquiry into the cause of her [The juror debriefer's] testimony complaint. establishes that the State's motion to replace juror 2 implicated 'the quality and coherence of the juror's views on the merits' and raised a "reasonable possibility" that juror 2's distress arose "from disagreement on the merits of the case." [Citation omitted] In these circumstances, the trial court had a duty to conduct a balanced investigation and apply the heightened evidentiary standard. See Elmore, 155 Wash.2d at 774-75, 123 P.3d 72. Despite Berniard's timely and specific request, the court did neither. This error led to the removal of a juror who had begun deliberations and may have believed that the State had not met its burden, violating Berniard's right to a unanimous verdict, and the removal may have suggested to the reconstituted jury that the court preferred guilty verdicts, violating Berniard's right to an impartial jury.

Id. at 123.

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