FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/27/2022 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1007779 (COA No. 833308)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

ATERE NORMAN,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE NO. 83330-8-I

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER

KYLE BERTI Attorney for Respondent

LISE ELLNER Attorney for Respondent

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER
Post Office Box 2711
Vashon, WA 98070
(206) 930-1090
WSB #20955

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Atere Norman, respondent here and appellant below, asks this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated February 28, 2022.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the Court of Appeal correctly apply the heightened evidentiary standard when the impetus of the juror's removal was his thoughts on the merits of the case which constituted the minority, and his ability to communicate those thoughts?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Atere Norman was charged with burglary in the first degree (Count 1) and assault in the second degree (Count 2) for conduct stemming from an altercation in the

Pierce County Jail between Mr. Norman and another inmate.

The case was submitted to the jury after a half-day trial. At 3:30 p.m., the jury informed the court clerk they were done deliberating for the day. Five jurors approached the clerk indicating they had a problem with another juror. RP 553. The clerk instructed the jurors to speak with the presiding juror. *Id.* Later that evening the clerk received two phone calls from two separate jurors about juror 9. These were separate jurors from the five that voiced their concerns earlier that afternoon. Juror 11, one of the calling jurors, told the clerk, there was an incident in the jury room. The clerk told the juror to speak with the presiding juror in the morning.

The clerk retold Juror 2's statement stating,

Juror Number 9 became overwhelmed and frustrated and started punching himself in the face and said that he has a problem with inflicting self-harm, and she said it was very scary and she didn't want to be sitting next to him or really in the room with him.

Then this morning, the presiding juror contacted me and indicated that Juror Number 9 was accused of not being open-minded, then began -- then he punched himself in the face twice and made several of the other jurors uncomfortable and also said that Juror number 9 stated he has a problem with inflicting self-harm.

Based off this limited information, the State asked the court to excuse Juror 9 for cause. Defense counsel asked for further inquiry before any decision was made.

The court first called juror 9 into the courtroom for inquiry. Initially, the court was concerned with everyone's safety. RP 554. The court asked "So we've called you here today to tell us about anything unusual relating to your actions yesterday and your ability to perform your duties." RP 554-55. The court properly informed the juror not to discuss the case. *Id.* Juror 9 responded

"So yesterday, discussions became very heated, and how would I describe—and there were a number of people who had disagreements with me. This caused raising of voices, and I became—and I'd say it's just, I was somewhat overwhelmed. I felt somewhat like—a little bit attached, and I reacted with an emotional outburst of punching myself in the face. That has happened in the past when I get into high-stress situations. I have self-harmed in the past, but it hasn't happened in a number of years. That being said, I still consider myself of sound mind and ability to continue going forward with this case."

RP 555.

The court asked Juror 9 if he had ever harmed others when stressed. RP 556. Juror 9 responded "Outside of, like, junior high school brawls, no." *Id.* The court asked if Juror 9 believed that there was any reason for any of the other jurors to feel unsafe since he physically reacted to high-stress situations, and Juror 9 responded, "No. I have never become violent with another person because of one of these high-stress events. It has always resulted in self-harm."

Juror 9 went on to tell the court that he had a plan to address the stress moving forward:

I do not think so. I am -- I'm going to -- I've tried to basically ready myself and steady myself. And this was -- now that I know that --how stressful the situation can get, I'm more prepared to handle and deal with it, and if I feel like it is getting to that point again, I will simply ask the jury for a break and take a small break and cool down so it doesn't occur again.

Again, the State asked that juror 9 be dismissed arguing

"He acknowledged that he was, in fact, punching himself in the face, which obviously is going to cause fear and concern amongst other jurors who are basically locked in a small room with him. And I have great concern about the sanctity of the process of deliberations under these circumstances...."

RP 557.

Again, defense counsel asked to hear from the jury foreperson "to maybe speak on behalf of the jury." The court agreed with defense counsel and called juror 2 and then juror 8, independently, to speak about the issue. The court had the following interaction with juror 2,

THE COURT: So I want to caution you not to tell me anything about anything that was said or -- anything that was said in the jury room or anything about the case, but I know you left a message yesterday, and part of the message told us what you saw, and we're aware of that. So I want to know from you how you're feeling or what your thoughts are about going forward.

JUROR NO. 2: I'm fine to continue going forward. I just don't want that to -- I don't want the incident that happened yesterday to limit what people feel comfortable saying so we don't have a repeat of that, just because --

THE COURT: So just tell me how it made you feel and how you think that may affect you?

JUROR NO. 2: I just -- it made me feel uncomfortable because I don't like seeing someone respond that way to things that are happening. I -- I just don't want a repeat of what happened yesterday to occur again.

The State asked juror 2 whether juror 9's conduct would affect the other juror's ability to speak their mind in which juror 2 responded

I think so yes, just because nobody wants to see him do that again, and I think everybody is a little on edge just a little bit just because they're not quite sure what—how he's going to react to certain things that are said and if he is potentially going to have another incident like that again."

RP 560.

Juror 2, however, stated juror 9's conduct would not affect her ability to speak her mind, just she was concerned for the other jurors

"It would not hinder my ability. I have no issues with coming forward and sharing how I feel about it, and I don't think anybody is having any issue. They just don't want a repeat. They just don't want to see him punch himself in the face again. They don't want to see him as if he is about to break out into tears, and we're just—we're just more concerned with his behavior."

The defense followed up with the question, "[W]hat was the vibe in the room?" Juror 2 said:

It's very -- we're just not sure what to expect. That's really what it is, and we haven't discussed anything, but you can just tell. You know, we just kind of scan around and we're just not really sure what today is going to hold for us in terms of that person's behavior."

The court then called juror 8, the presiding juror:

THE COURT: Mr. Presiding Juror, first I'd like to caution you that we don't want to hear

anything about your deliberations or anything about your factual discussions of the case. But we are aware, from Juror Number 9 himself as well as a report from at least one or more other jurors that he became overwhelmed and started punching himself in the face yesterday. And our question to you is whether or not you believe the jury will be able to fully and fairly discuss these matters based on that incident and whether or not you have any concerns for his, your, or anyone else's safety and health.

JUROR NO. 8: There was some disagreement. I don't think that there is any physical threat, but there was some physical - self physical punching of the face by Juror Number 9, and he stated that he had problems with self-harm growing up. Now, because of disagreements, I'm not sure that that won't continue. I'm not sure that there will be a resolution. He was pretty adamant about his beliefs, so I don't know that we'll be able to come to an agreement. In fact, I don't think we will.

THE COURT: Well, I don't want to hear about that. Sorry.

JUROR NO. 8: Okay. Okay.

THE COURT: What I want to know is whether there will be a full and fair discussion and without intimidation from anybody feeling --

JUROR NO. 8: No.

THE COURT: No.

JUROR NO. 8: I don't think there will be.

Defense counsel followed up and asked, "What do you mean? And I know the question generally and I know the answer, but how do you see this playing out? Do you think people will not be able to openly discuss or give their views on it?" Juror 8 responded as follows with a question interjected by the court:

JUROR NO. 8: I think they will be able to give their views openly, sure. Yes.

THE COURT: So they won't be inhibited by --

JUROR NO. 8: No, I don't -- no. No. I must have misunderstood the question. No, I don't think any of the other jurors will be inhibited.

The State followed up. The following exchange took place:

[STATE]: Is it your opinion that Juror Number 9 is not allowing other people to have their opinions?

JUROR NO. 8: He is.

[STATE]: He is allowing them.

JUROR NO. 8: He is allowing, but oftentimes, he's interrupted during those opinions. That was the course that was taken yesterday.

[STATE]: And did he seem in control of himself during the course of deliberations?

JUROR NO. 8: Probably 80 percent of the day, yeah.

[STATE]: What about the other 20 percent?

JUROR NO. 8: Well, it led to him punching himself in the face a couple times and grabbing his hair. He apologized every time, so maybe he was remorseful about it.

[STATE]: Are you concerned about his well-being?

JUROR NO. 8: Well, I'm -- yeah.

[STATE]: You said that discussions were contentious; is that correct?

. . .

JUROR NO. 8: Yes.

[STATE]: And do you feel that's what led to his reaction?

JUROR NO. 8: Yes.

[STATE]: And do you expect that that is going to continue or could – or could continue?

JUROR NO. 8: Well, it could. I don't know Juror Number 9 well enough to know whether he's able to keep himself in check. I -- I -- I would hope it didn't happen again.

Defense counsel followed up asking, "[A]s you sit here now, are you willing to go in there and move forward and see how it plays out? Are you comfortable with that?" The presiding juror responded, "Yes, sure." The court did not inquire with any other juror. The State again asked the court to excuse Juror 9 for cause. The court dismissed juror 9, at the behest of the State, explaining that

I'm going to dismiss Juror Number 9. Twenty percent of the day, he was not in control of himself, and he apparently has a long history of self-harm when he's overwhelmed, highly stressed, and not in control of himself. And I don't doubt that he'll make his best efforts, but being out of control and punching yourself in the face has to be intimidating on the process of discussing your views openly and freely. . . . [Juror 2] said that she -- you know, felt bad that he was hitting himself in the face and didn't want him to do that, and I think that shows an inhibition at some level. So that's what we'll do.

We'll call Juror 13. We'll tell the jurors that they won't be deliberating until Juror 13 arrives, and hopefully that won't be too long.

The alternate juror was seated, the jury was instructed to disregard all previous deliberations and start anew. Shortly thereafter, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on count 2 but not guilty on count 1.

The State filed a petition in this Court and this answer follows.

E. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the "any heightened evidentiary standard, reasonable possibility" when there was evidence in the record juror 9's distress stemmed from his views on the merits of the case. The State's petition, based solely the on mischaracterization of the facts, argues the heightened standard only applies when it is alleged the juror is engaged in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law. Pet. at 12 (citing *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 778, 123 P.3d 72 (2005)).

Despite this assertion, the State does not dispute that the heightened evidentiary standard may be applicable where there is evidence in the record which indicates the challenged juror's distress stems from that juror's views on the merits of the case. Pet. at 17-19 (citing *State v. Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. 106, 327 P.3d 1290 (2014) and *State v. Johnson*, 125 Wn. App. 443, 105 P.3d 85 (2005)). That is exactly what the Court of Appeals held in Mr. Norman's case. Slip Op. at 19.

The State agrees with the Court of Appeals that generally, removing a seated juror is governed by statute and is within the discretion of the court. Pet. at 9-10; Slip Op. at 9. Moreover, the State agrees there are several factors to consider when considering whether to apply the heightened evidentiary standard: "(1) whether the request for juror dismissal focuses on the quality of a juror's

thoughts about the case, (2) whether there is a reasonable possibility that the impetus for the complaint is the juror's views on the merits, (3) whether the dismissed juror was a hold out, and (4) the need to preserve the secrecy of jury deliberations." Pet. at 11 (citing *Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. at 122 (citing *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758).

However, the State does not agree the heightened standard applies to situations in which a juror distress is caused by their views on the facts of the case, despite the Court of Appeals decisions in *Berniard* and *Johnson*. Pet. at 12. Contrary to the State's assertion, *Berniard* and *Johnson* do apply to Mr. Norman's case and reliance on those cases is supported by this Court's opinion in *Elmore*.

This Court in *Elmore* adopted, in part, the 9th Circuit's heightened evidentiary standard described in *United States v. Symington*, 195 F.3d 1080 (9th Cir. 1999). In analyzing *Symington* this Court stated

that in the rare case where a request for juror dismissal focuses on the quality of a juror's thoughts about the case and his ability to communicate those thoughts to the rest of the jury, the need to protect the secrecy of jury deliberations will often render the trial court unable to investigate thoroughly enough to come to a definite determination as to whether the juror's vote is the result of prejudice or his view of the merits of the case.

Elmore, 155 Wn.2d at 775 (citing Symington, 195 F.3d at 1086). This was same language the Court of Appeals relied on when it decided Elmore that was later relied on in Johnson, and again in Berniard. State v. Elmore, 121 Wn. App. 747, 754, 90 P.3d 1110 (2004); Johnson, 125 Wn. App. at 458-59; Berniard, 182 Wn. App. at 118-19.

In essence, the Court of Appeals in Mr. Norman's case could have relied solely on *Johnson* and the Court of Appeals' decision in *Elmore*, and would have necessarily come to the same conclusion. The Court of Appeals opinion in Mr. Norman's case does not extend this Court's rule in *Elmore*, but only rearticulates the rule as described

in *Symington* as well as the underlying need for the "any reasonable possibility" standard.

a. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the "any reasonable possibility" standard to the facts of Mr. Norman's case.

Juror 9 felt attacked by other jurors due to his views on the merits of the case. The jury foreperson testified the disagreements between the majority and juror 9 were unlikely to be resolved. This means two out of the three testifying jurors informed the parties that juror 9's conduct stemmed from disagreements about the merits of the case. Based on *Elmore*, *Berniard*, and *Johnson*, the heightened evidentiary standard applied.

In *Berniard*, the juror experienced mental distress caused by disagreements with other jurors on the merits of the case. *Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. at 122. The juror expressed that she felt the other jurors were against her, that she could do serious self-harm if she had to continue deliberating. *Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. at 113-14. In

Johnson, the juror was reclusive, would curl up into a ball, and would stop talking with other jurors, during deliberations. *Johnson*, 125 Wn. App. at 451-52. The juror would also try to reopen the discussion while the other jurors were trying to conclude deliberations. *Id*.

In both *Berniard* and *Johnson*, the Court of Appeals stated that based on the record, the trial court had two options: send the jury back to continue deliberating or declare a mistrial. In both instances, the Court reasoned the impetus of the juror's distress stemmed, at least in part, from the challenged juror's views on the merits of the case. In other words, the distress was caused by the differences in views on the merits of the case, not from the actual process of deliberations.

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